

onkopedia guidelines

Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma

Recommendations from the society for diagnosis and therapy of haematological and oncological diseases









Publisher

DGHO Deutsche Gesellschaft für Hämatologie und Medizinische Onkologie e.V. Bauhofstr. 12 D-10117 Berlin

Executive chairman: Prof. Dr. med. Andreas Hochhaus

Phone: +49 (0)30 27 87 60 89 - 0

info@dgho.de www.dgho.de

Contact person

Prof. Dr. med. Bernhard Wörmann Medical superintendent

Source

www.onkopedia-guidelines.info

The information of the DGHO Onkopedia Web Site is not intended or implied to be a substitute for professional medical advice or medical care. The advice of a medical professional should always be sought prior to commencing any form of medical treatment. To this end, all component information contained within the web site is done so for solely educational purposes. DGHO Deutsche Gesellschaft für Hämatologie und Onkologie and all of its staff, agents and members disclaim any and all warranties and representations with regards to the information contained on the DGHO Web Site. This includes any implied warranties and conditions that may be derived from the aforementioned web site information.

Table of contents

1	Summary	3
2	Basics	3
	Definition and basic information	
2.2	Epidemiology	4
	Pathogenesis	
	Clinical presentation	
4	Diagnosis	4
4.1	Lymph node tissue	4
4.2	Staging	5
	Laboratory tests	
	Prognostic factors	
4.4.1	International Prognostic Index (IPI)	7
	Bone marrow involvement	
4.4.3	Bulk	7
	Comorbidities	
4.5	Differential diagnosis	8
5	Therapy	8
	Therapy structure	
5.1.1	First-line therapy	8
5.1.1.1	Immunochemotherapy	9
5.1.1.2	Maintenance therapy	9
5.1.1.3	Irradiation	9
5.1.1.4	Open questions in the field of first-line therapy	LO
5.1.1.4.1	Prognosis-guided therapy	10
5.1.1.4.2	Response-guided therapy	10
5.1.1.4.3	Complex therapy protocols	10
5.1.1.4.4	Rituximab dosage and new CD20 antibodies	1
5.1.1.4.5	Vitamin D	1
5.1.2	Therapy for progression / refractoriness / relapse	12
5.1.2.1	Therapy in the first relapse - early recurrence and refractory situ ation	12
5.1.2.2	Therapy in the first relapse - late recurrence	L3
5.1.2.3	Therapy for second or later relapse	13
5.2	Special lymphomas and clinical situations	14
5.2.1	Primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma (PMBL)	14
5.2.1.1	General information	L4
5.2.1.2	First-line therapy	L4

5.2.1.3	Therapy of relapse	15
5.2.2	Richter Transformation (RT)	15
5.2.3	First-line therapy in the senium	16
5.2.4	Central nervous manifestations	16
5.2.5	Testicular lymphoma	16
5.2.6	Contraindication against anthracyclines	16
5.2.7	Impaired kidney or liver function	17
5.2.8	Pregnancy and fertility	17
6	Follow-up	17
6.1	Monitoring	17
6.1.1	Interim staging	17
6.1.2	Final examination	18
6.2	Follow up	18
6.3	COVID-19	19
9	References	19
10	Active studies	25
14	Links	25
15	Authors' Affiliations	25
16	Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest	27

Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma

Date of document: January 2024

Compliance rules:

- Guideline
- Conflict of interests

Authors: Georg Lenz, Björn Chapuy, Bertram Glaß, Felix Keil, Wolfram Klapper, Maike Nickelsen, Heinz Schmidberger, Clemens A. Schmitt, Urban Novak, Clemens-Martin Wendtner Previous authors: Ulrich Dührsen, Michael A. Fridrik, Norbert Schmitz

1 Summary

Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL) is the most common neoplasm of the lymphatic system. It originates from mature B-cells and is rapidly fatal if left untreated. Rapidly progressive lymph node enlargement and/or extranodal manifestations as well as general symptoms (B symptoms) are characteristic.

The International Prognostic Index allows the assessment of the individual prognosis.

The therapeutic approach is curative. First-line therapy consits of 6 - 8 cycles of the R-CHOP regimen or of protocols similar to R-CHOP. In early stages without any risk factors, a reduction of the number of treatment cycles is possible. The value of radiotherapy is still open. Other unresolved issues are the subject of prospective clinical studies and comprise the application of prognosis- or response-guided therapy, the value of more intensive therapy protocols or the efficacy of new substances.

The cure rate for patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma is around 60 to 70%.

2 Basics

2.1 Definition and basic information

The current WHO classification distinguishes diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, not otherwise specified (NOS) from other mature aggressive/blastic B-cell lymphomas [1]. The subtypes of aggressive B-cell lymphomas listed in the WHO classification are differentiated according to clinical parameters (e.g. localization), histological characteristics, immunophenotype. Furthermore, associations with infectious agents or genetic aberrations are of interest. Within the group of diffuse large B-cell lymphomas, NOS, variants can be classified according to morphological criteria (centroblastic, immunoblastic, anaplastic), gene expression ('germinal-center B-cell (GCB)like', activated B-cell (ABC)-like'), according to immunohistochemical characteristics (in particular CD5, CD30, MYC, BCL2, BCL6, CD10, MUM1) and according to genetic abnormalities (translocation of *MYC*, *BCL2* and/or *BCL6 loci*). More recent genomic classifications allow to distinguish subgroups with characteristic mutation profiles (e.g. EZB, MCD, BN2 or N1 subtype or the C1-C5 clusters) [2].

Treatment of patients with other aggressive large B-cell lymphomas is similar to diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, NOS. They include T-cell/histiocyte-rich large B-cell lymphoma, primary cutaneous diffuse large B-cell lymphoma of the lower extremity ('leg type'), Epstein-Barr virus-positive diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma, intravascular large B-cell lymphoma, the usually CD20-negative plasmablastic lymphoma and follicular lymphoma grade 3b.

Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, which primarily manifests in the central nervous system (CNS), differs from the aforementioned subtypes in terms of biology and treatment. It is therefore not included in the present recommendations.

2.2 Epidemiology

The incidence of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma is approximately 7 cases per 100,000 inhabitants per year. The disease is more common in Caucasians than in Africans or Asians, and men are more frequently affected than women [3]. The frequency of diagnosis increases with age.

2.3 Pathogenesis

Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma is a heterogeneous diagnostic category. Based on similarities with the presumed cell of origin (COO), the subgroups of germinal center B-cell-like (GCB) and activated B-cell-like (ABC) diffuse large B-cell lymphomas are characterized by the different pattern of gene expression [4]. Ten to 15% of diffuse large B-cell lymphomas cannot be assigned definitively to any of the aforementioned subtypes. Further attempts to reproduce the gene expression patterns by using microarrays or the NanoString technology, using only a few immunohistochemical markers showed heterogeneous results [5]. Subsequent studies, mainly with DNA-based next generation sequencing methods, have identified further molecular subtypes characterized by genetic alterations (mutations, numerical gene copy number changes and chromosomal rearrangements) [2]. The clinical significance of genetic classifications is currently being investigated in clinical studies.

3 Clinical presentation

At the time of diagnosis, rapidly progressive lymph node enlargement and/or extranodal manifestations are usually present. The symptoms depend on the localization of the manifestations and the release of soluble mediators. Bone marrow infiltration, which can be large cell (concordant) or small cell (discordant), is present in 10 to 25 % of cases [1]. Some patients suffer from fever, night sweats and/or weight loss (B symptoms).

4 Diagnosis

4.1 Lymph node tissue

Diagnosis requires a sufficiently large tissue sample, preferably the entire lymph node, for histological, immunohisforochemical, cytogenetic and molecular genetic examinations. As the diagnosis is often difficult, an assessment by an experienced hematopathologist is highly recommended. A rebiopsy is always mandatory in the event of recurrence.

Requirements for routine diagnostics:

A histological analysis is mandatory at the time of diagnosis. Morphology is of particular importance for the correct diagnosis and possible differential diagnoses. If the morphology corresponds to a diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, the following analyses are required for the classification according to the WHO:

• CD20 expression and, if necessary, other B-cell markers if CD20 is negative, to prove the B-cell nature of the malignant cells.

- *MYC* translocations according to the WHO classification. The prognostic relevance of *MYC* translocations with simultaneous *BCL2* translocation appears to depend on the translocation partner [6].
- Determination of the COO subtype, whereby the choice of method is optional. COO subtyping currently has no clear clinical relevance, but is part of the WHO classification.
- Optional: Parallel testing for the expression of MYC and BCL2: if both markers are expressed (currently not uniformly defined) a so-called 'double expressor' status is present. Patients with 'double expressor' lymphoma showed a poorer prognosis in retrospective analyses [7]. The presence of a 'double expressor' status currently has no therapeutic relevance.

4.2 Staging

For staging the Ann Arbor classification is used (Table 1) [8]. This requires a history of B-symptoms, a physical examination of the tonsils, lymph nodes, liver, spleen, effusions, visible or palpable masses, computed tomography (CT) with contrast medium of the neck, thorax and abdomen and a bone marrow biopsy (if no PET/CT has been performed for staging; unilateral; aspiration and trephine of at least 2 cm in length). The definition of the lymph node regions is shown in Figure 1.

The detection of lymphoma manifestations is most reliably achieved with positron emission tomography (PET) using the tracer 18-fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG). FDG-PET is the international standard to determine the extent of lymphoma manifestations and for evaluation of treatment results [9]. Usually, whole-body PET/CT is performed, in which pathological glucose accumulations (PET component) are assigned to anatomical structures (CT component). The result of the PET/CT is described using the Lugano classification based on the Ann Arbor classification [9]. PET/CT can provide additional information on bone marrow infiltration and staging at diagnosis leading to so-called 'upstaging' in around 20 % of cases. The metabolically active volume is an additional prognostic and predictive parameter at diagnosis.

Table 1: Ann Arbor classification [8]

Stage	Definition of
I	Involvement of a single lymph node region
IE	Nodal involvement of a single lymph node region with growth into extranodal tissue (per continuitatem) or pres- ence of a single primary extranodally localized focus
П	Involvement of several lymph node regions on one side of the diaphragm
IIE	Involvement of several lymph node regions on one side of the diaphragm with extention into extranodal tissue (per continuitatem)
Ш	Involvement of lymph node regions on both sides of the diaphragm
III _E	Involvement of lymph node regions on both sides of the diaphragm with extention (per continuitatem) into extran- odal tissue
IV	Diffuse or disseminated involvement of one or more extralymphatic organs: multiple local manifestations in one extralymphatic organ, diffuse infiltration of an entire organ, simultaneous presence of a primary extranodal focus and additional nodal involvement or extranodal manifestations with exten- tion (per continuitatem) from nodal foci or involvement of the liver and/or bone marrow
	Lymphoid structures are: Lymph nodes, tonsils, Waldeyer's pharyngeal ring, Peyer's plaques and the spleen
Suffix S	Involvement of the spleen (considered a lymph node)
Addition A	None of the general symptoms defined under B is present
Addition B	One or more of the following three general symptoms: • Fever above 38° C that cannot be explained otherwise,
	 Night sweats with change of nightdress that cannot be explained in any other way, Weigh-loss of more than 10% of body weight within 6 months that cannot be explained in any other way.

Figure 1: Lymph node regions



4.3 Laboratory tests

The laboratory tests include a blood count with differential blood count and clinical chemistry tests to assess liver (bilirubin, GOT, GPT, alkaline phosphatase, gamma-GT) and kidney function (creatinine). Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) in the serum provides information on cell proliferation and turnover, uric acid on cell decay. A cardiac examination (electrocardiogram, echocardiography) should be done in order to assess subsequent therapy-related complications. Hepatitis and HIV serology are part of the diagnostic program before therapy.

4.4 Prognostic factors

4.4.1 International Prognostic Index (IPI)

The prognosis is estimated using the **International Prognostic Index (IPI).** The IPI includes the factors **age** (\leq vs. > 60 years), **general condition** (ECOG 0 - 1 vs. \geq 2), **Ann Arbor stage** (I, II vs. III, IV), **involvement of extranodal organs** (0 - 1 vs. \geq 2 extranodal sites) **and LDH** (\leq vs. > upper normal limit) determining in each case a favorable vs. unfavorable status (corresponding to 0 vs. 1 point, respectively) [10]. Based on the severity, **four risk groups** are distinguished: 0 - 1 points: low risk (overall survival after 3 years: 91%); 2 points: low intermediate (81%); 3 points: high intermediate (65%); 4 - 5 points: high (59%).

The **age-adjusted International Prognostic Index** (aaIPI) is a prognostic score reduced to the factors **general condition, Ann Arbor stage and LDH**, in which the four risk groups mentioned are defined by 0, 1, 2 or 3 unfavorable points. In contrast to the IPI, the aaIPI allows a survival prognosis independent of age.

A further development of the IPI is the 'National Comprehensive Cancer Network' (NCCN) IPI, in which age and LDH activity are divided into 4 or 3 subgroups and only a few extranodal manifestations are evaluated as risk factors [11]. The NCCN-IPI separates the survival curves of the risk groups better than the original IPI. However, it has not yet received general acceptance due to its complexity.

4.4.2 Bone marrow involvement

According to a retrospective study, large cell (concordant) bone marrow infiltration is a risk factor independent of the International Prognostic Index [12]. This does not apply to small cell (discordant) infiltration, which may be a sign of an indolent lymphoma component. In the case of discordant bone marrow infiltration, recurrences can manifest as aggressive or indolent lymphoma. The progression-free survival of patients with discordant infiltration is shortened compared to patients without bone marrow involvement, but the overall survival time does not differ [12].

4.4.3 Bulk

A very large lymphoma manifestation represents a risk factor independent of the International Prognostic Index [13]. The common definition of a 'bulk' in Germany is a diameter \geq 7.5 cm [14]. In some countries, a diameter \geq 10 cm is required.

4.4.4 Comorbidities

An assessment of comorbidities is highly recommended before starting therapy. Both the 'Charlson Comorbidity Score' and the 'Hematopoietic Cell Transplantation-specific Comorbidity

Index' (HCT-CI) can be used here, whereby the HCT-CI is more accurate with regard to cardiovascular and nephrological comorbidities. Both scores are predictive and prognostic factors. In addition, a comparison of the comorbidities at diagnosis and at relapse can influence the treatment decision if treatment intensification is required in a subsequent relapse or refractoriness [15, 16].

4.5 Differential diagnosis

Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma with its variants and subtypes and the diseases related to diffuse large B-cell lymphoma has to be differentiated from lymphomas that manifest similarly, but are treated differently. These include Hodgkin's, Burkitt's and mantle cell lymphomas as well as peripheral T-cell lymphomas. The histological differentiation of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma from other aggressive B-cell lymphomas is based on the WHO classification [1].

5 Therapy

5.1 Therapy structure

Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and related entities are curable, but rapidly fatal diseases if left untreated. The indication for therapy is therefore linked to the diagnosis. The treatment goal is curation. Exceptions are situations in which comorbidities or other circumstances do not permit a curative approach. The current standard of therapy is based on the results of clinical studies. First-line therapy still consists of immuno-chemotherapy. For relapse therapy, innovative therapy concepts have been established. Two figures depict the therapeutic algorithm: first-line therapy in Figure 2 and management of relapse in Figure 3, respectively. To improve therapy, patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma should be treated in prospective studies whenever possible.

Since chemotherapy can cause infertility, patients should be informed about fertility-preserving measures before starting treatment and these should be initiated if necessary.

5.1.1 First-line therapy



Figure 2: Structure of first-line therapy for diffuse large B-cell lymphoma

Involved site radiotherapy should be considered for circumscribed PET-positive residual lymphomas.

The description of the therapy protocols is included in the associated document "Drug-based tumor therapy"

5.1.1.1 Immunochemotherapy

First-line therapy is carried out with 6 cycles of the CHOP protocol plus 8 doses of rituximab (R-CHOP protocol) or with protocols similar to R-CHOP [17-19]. The CHOP protocol is equally effective compared to more complex treatment regimens, however R-CHOP is better tolerable [20]. The addition of rituximab improved treatment overall survival in all subgroups [17-21]. In randomized studies, two variants of the R-CHOP protocol were tested, which provide comparable results in terms of progression-free survival and overall survival [17-19]: 8 cycles at 21-day intervals or 6 cycles at 14-day intervals followed by 2 additional doses of rituximab. The latter variant requires the administration of G-CSF. Different analyses showed that 6 cycles at 21-day intervals are not inferior to 8 cycles of R-CHOP [22]. Six cycles of R-CHOP-21 are therefore the international standard. In younger patients (60 years and younger) without an IPI risk factor (IPI 0) and without a bulk, treatment should be reduced to 4 cycles of R-CHOP with 2 additional courses of rituximab without any reduction in efficacy [21]. In patients with increased risk (IPI 2-5), 6 courses of R-CHP (CHOP without vincristine) in combination with polatuzumab vedotin followed by two courses of rituximab showed significantly improved progression-free survival compared to standard therapy with 6 courses of R-CHOP and two courses of rituximab (see also comments in chapter 5.1.1.4.3) [23].

For younger high-risk patients, in addition to the treatments described above, intensified protocols can also be used, which are described in chapter 5.1.1.4.3.

5.1.1.2 Maintenance therapy

Maintenance therapy with rituximab is not indicated for diffuse large B-cell lymphoma as it does not improve the treatment results. Similarly, maintenance treatment with other sub-stances such as lenalidomide did not lead to any improvement in overall survival.

5.1.1.3 Irradiation

The potential role of radiotherapy in the treatment of patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma has not been defined by the results of randomized studies. Historically, radiotherapy has developed from the sole curative treatment modality to consolidating therapy (involved field radiotherapy) after completion of chemotherapy. Currently, the indication for consolidating radiotherapy depends on the result of a PET/CT scan after completion of chemotherapy. The previously common "Involved Field" treatment of anatomical regions has been replaced by "Involved Site" irradiation of the initial lesion [24].

In the localized stages (I, II) of aggressive lymphomas, randomized studies have shown improved relapse-free survival with consolidating radiotherapy, but no improvement in overall survival [25, 26]. In the advanced stages, however, radiotherapy of PET-positive residual tumors in initial 'bulk lesions' (\geq 7.5 cm) led to a significant improvement in relapse-free survival and overall survival [14]. Retrospective studies suggest that this also applies to the irradiation of skeletal manifestations. At the end of chemotherapy, consolidating post-irradiation should be considered for individual PET-positive lesions.

The above-mentioned procedure of consolidating radiotherapy for the treatment of PET-positive residual manifestations has found its way into numerous guidelines. With one exception, this approach is not proven by the results of prospective randomized studies, but is based on retrospective analyses with historical controls [27-29]. General radiotherapy of initial lymphoma manifestations, as previously recommended as an "involved field", is obsolete [30].

5.1.1.4 Open questions in the field of first-line therapy

5.1.1.4.1 Prognosis-guided therapy

It is presently unclear whether patients with aggressive lymphomas that differ in terms of gene expression or genetic subtype may benefit from a modified therapy. The long-term results of the REMoDL-B study showed a significant improvement in progression-free and overall survival with the addition of the proteasome inhibitor bortezomib to R-CHOP in patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma of the ABC subtype [31]. In 'double-hit lymphomas', more intensive treatment protocols (e.g. DA-EPOCH-R, Burkitt protocols) led to longer progression-free survival times than R-CHOP in retrospective studies, but there was no difference in overall survival. In this respect, the question of whether patients with 'double-hit lymphoma' benefit from treatment intensification is currently unresolved.

5.1.1.4.2 Response-guided therapy

Whether and under what conditions the result of the interim staging should influence the further treatment strategy is unknown. In a randomized study, interim PET performed after 2 cycles of R-CHOP was of prognostic significance, but in the presence of unfavorable interim PET findings, intensification of treatment did not lead to an improved outcome compared to R-CHOP [20]. In contrast, a PET-guided French phase III trial was able to show that early intensification using high-dose therapy and autologous stem cell transplantation in case of a delayed response (PET still positive after two cycles, negative after four cycles) leading to the same results as standard therapy completed in the case of early PET negativity [32].

5.1.1.4.3 Complex therapy protocols

In patients under the age of 60 with an intermediate prognosis (aaIPI 1), the **R-ACVBP protocol** proved to be significantly superior to the R-CHOP protocol [33]. The treatment approach is similar to the usual procedure for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. In that protocol, induction with 4 cycles of a dose-intensified R-CHOP variant is followed by consolidation with 2 cycles of highdose methotrexate, 4 cycles of rituximab/ifosfamide/etoposide and 2 cycles of cytarabine. In younger patients with an unfavorable prognosis (aaIPI 2 or 3), R-ACVBP was not superior to R-CHOP in a randomized, interim PET-guided study [34]. Due to the increased toxicity in older patients, the R-ACVBP protocol has not gained general acceptance. In patients at high risk of central nervous system relapse, the protocol may offer advantages because central nervous system relapses occur less frequently compared to R-CHOP [35].

In the randomized phase 3 POLARIX study, patients aged 18 to 80 years with intermediate- and high-risk (IPI 2-5) were randomized between 6 cycles of R-CHOP and 6 doses of R-CHP in combination with the anti-CD79B antibody-drug conjugate (ADC) polatuzumab vedotin, each followed by two applications of rituximab [23]. Patients treated with **R-CHP-polatuzumab vedotin** in the experimental arm showed a significant improvement in the primary endpoint of progression-free survival at 2 years (76.7% vs. 70.2%) [23]. After a median observation period of 28 months, there was no difference in overall survival. Furthermore, there was no increased toxicity in the experimental arm. Polatuzumab vedotin in combination with R-CHP was approved by the EMA as first-line therapy for the treatment of adults with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma.

The addition of etoposide (100 mg/m² day 1 - 3) to the CHOP protocol led to an improved event-free survival in the pre-rituximab era in younger patients with a good prognosis [36]. After the addition of rituximab, however, the results of CHOP and CHOEP were comparable [18]. In younger patients with an unfavorable prognosis, unexpectedly good results were achieved with the **R-CHOEP protocol**. Patients treated with R-CHOEP achieved a 10-year overall survival of 72% [37]. These results suggest that prognostically unfavorable lymphomas could also benefit from the addition of etoposide under rituximab therapy. A retrospective comparison of the outcomes of younger patients with unfavorable prognosis treated with either R-CHOEP or R-CHP in combination with polatuzumab vedotin showed no differences in progression-free and overall survival, but fewer acute toxicities with R-CHP in combination with polatuzumab vedotin [38]. Despite the methodological limitations, this inter-study comparison limits the use of R-CHOEP in this population. Therefore, R-CHOEP should only be offered to individually selected patients.

In addition to the alkylating agents, anthracyclines, vinca alkaloids and corticosteroids contained in the CHOP protocol, the complex **B-ALL/NHL protocol** of the German ALL Study Group includes the substances methotrexate, cytarabine and etoposide, which penetrate the CNS. Compared to the CHOP protocol, it is associated with higher toxicity (especially mucositis) with comparable therapy-associated mortality. In the event of a poor response to the first two R-CHOP cycles, switching to the B-ALL/NHL protocol under randomized conditions showed no advantage over continuing R-CHOP [20]. In this respect, there is no clear evidence for the use of the B-ALL/NHL protocol in patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma.

In view of the importance of **high-dose therapy** with autologous blood stem cell transplantation in patients with lymphoma relapse, numerous attempts have been made to use the procedure as consolidation in front-line therapy, as well. Overall, no advantages could be shown, and in some subgroups the results were contradictory [39]. Outside of clinical trials, consolidating high-dose therapy with autologous blood stem cell transplantation is not recommended as a concept for first-line therapy.

5.1.1.4.4 Rituximab dosage and new CD20 antibodies

In a retrospective study, male patients benefited less from the addition of rituximab to the CHOP protocol than women. This appears to be due to faster rituximab clearance [40]. Increasing the single dose of rituximab from 375 mg/m² to 500 mg/m² improved progression-free survival in male patients compared to a historical control [41]. In a second historical comparison, an improvement in treatment results was achieved in older patients by changing the schedule of rituximab administration [42]. These observations are in contrast to the results of prospective studies [20, 43] and retrospective comparisons, which showed no survival benefit from further rituximab administration. There are no generally accepted recommendations for optimizing the use of rituximab.

New CD20 antibodies such as obinutuzumab [44] or ofatumumab [45] were unable to improve the treatment results achieved with rituximab in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma in randomized studies.

5.1.1.4.5 Vitamin D

Retrospective data suggested that patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma and a vitamin D serum concentration below the normal range would have a less favorable disease course than patients with a normal vitamin D concentration [46]. It is unknown whether the treatment out-

come can be improved by vitamin D supplementation, but laboratory-detected reduced vitamin D levels should be compensated.

5.1.2 Therapy for progression / refractoriness / relapse



Figure 3: Relapse therapy for diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (first and subsequent relapses)

Legend: BSC: best supportive care. The description of the therapy protocols is included in the associated document "Drug-based tumor therapy"

5.1.2.1 Therapy in the first relapse - early recurrence and refractory situation

CAR T-cell therapy:

In recent decades, conventional platinum-containing salvage therapy followed by high-dose therapy with autologous blood stem cell transplantation has been the standard treatment for relapses in younger patients (under the age of 60 years), but also in older patients without therapy-limiting comorbidities [47]. Satisfactory treatment results were only seen if there was a response to conventional-dose induction therapy. This occurred rarely if the **interval** between primary diagnosis and recurrence was **less than 12 months.** Three cycles of the R-DHAP or R-ICE protocol proved to be equivalent as induction therapy [48]. Alternatively, the R-GDP regimen is available, which is equivalent to the R-DHAP protocol with better tolerability [49]. The BEAM protocol was generally used for high-dose chemotherapy [48].

For younger patients with primary refractory disease or **early relapse** (**within 12 months after completion of first-line therapy**) eligible for high-dose therapy, the standard of care (high-dose therapy followed by autologous stem cell transplantation) has been compared with anti-CD19 CAR T-cell therapy in phase 3 trials [50- 52]. The ZUMA-7 study showed a significant improvement in event-free and overall survival with axicabtagene-ciloleucel in patients with DLBCL [50]. In the TRANSFORM study, the experimental arm with lisocabtagene-maraleucel also led to a significant improvement in event-free survival, which was followed by the approval of lisocabtagene-maraleucel in patients with DLBCL and other subtypes (high grade B-cell lymphoma (HGBCL), primary mediastinal B-cell lymphoma and follicular lymphoma grade 3B (FL3B)) [51]. Based on these data, treatment with axicabtagene-ciloleucel or lisocabtagene-maraleucel represents the new standard of care for patients with primary refractory disease or early relapse.

CAR T-cell therapy for primary refractory disease or early relapse should also be offered to older patients who may not be able to receive chemotherapy followed by autologous stem cell transplantation, as older patients can also benefit from CAR T-cell therapy to a similar extent as younger patients. The ALYCANTE study in patients who are not capable of receiving high dose chemotherapy showed promising results for therapy with axicabtagene-ciloleucel. The use of lisocabtagene-maraleucel in the PILOT study also showed favorable response rates and survival data in this patient population [53, 54].

5.1.2.2 Therapy in the first relapse - late recurrence

For patients with **late relapse (at least 12 months after completion of first-line therapy) who are eligible for** autologous blood stem cell transplantation, high-dose chemotherapy followed by autologous stem cell transplantation remains the standard of care.

In patients with **late relapse** who are not eligible for an autologous stem cell transplantion due to their age or comorbidities, or patients with early relapse who do not qualify for a CAR T-cell therapy, the treatment goal is often palliative. A curative therapy concept appears possible if the interval between the primary diagnosis and the relapse is long and the disease responds to a new therapy. In addition to the **R-GemOx regimen** [55], more intensive chemotherapy regimens such as **R-DHAP or R-ICE** [48] are also available. Furthermore, the combination of rituximab, bendamustine with the antibody-drug conjugate polatuzumab vedotin (Pola-BR) is approved for patients in first or later relapse. The pivotal trial for Pola-BR showed a significant improvement in response rates, progression-free survival and overall survival compared to rituximab and bendamustine [56]. As a further option, a chemotherapy-free treatment option consisting of the anti-CD19 antibody tafasitamab in combination with lenalidomide was approved for not high-dose-eligible patients in first relapse [57]. Promising response rates and long-term data were reported in the L-MIND study. However, these data remained unconfirmed by a retrospective real-world analysis [58]. Due to the large number of newly approved treatment modalities, attention to the sequence is becoming increasingly important. When using tafasitamab, the efficacy of downstream CD19-targeted CAR T-cell therapy is unclear. Furthermore, the quality of lymphocyte apheresis after bendamustine is significantly limited in retrospective studies [59].

5.1.2.3 Therapy for second or later relapse

The **three CAR T-cell products axicabtagene-ciloleucel, tisagenlecleucel and lisocabtagene-maraleucel** are currently approved by the EMA (European Medicines Agency) for patients with at least two prior therapies [60, 61, 62]. **According to the approval studies,** the **indication** is for patients with relapsed/refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, primary mediastinal B-cell lymphoma or transformed follicular lymphoma. In patients with a second relapse, treatment with CAR T-cells should always be considered.

A CAR T-cell therapy should also be offered to older, possibly co-morbid patients. The ability to use CAR T-cell therapy should be evaluated in a context- and product-specific basis. "Real-world analyses" of all three approved CAR T-cell products in the third and higher treatment lines show no negative influence of age on the success of a CAR T-cell therapy and therefore, no upper age limit is defined for the use of CAR T-cell therapy [63].

With regard to comorbidities, significant negative influences of moderate to severe renal, cardiac and hepatic comorbidities have been described for **axicabtagene-ciloleucel**, which have to be taken into account when determining the indication. Since successful use of axicabtagene ciloleucel in patients with the respective pre-existing comorbidities has been reported in small prospective studies, an absolute contraindication against the use of axicabtagene ciloleucel does not seem justified. It is futher of note that less toxic treatment modalities with proven curative potential are usually not available in these situations.

Inter-study comparisons and the existing "real-world analyses" show an overall lower toxicity for the substances **tisagenlecleucel and lisocabtagene-maraleucel** compared to axicabtagene-ciloleucel, which resulted in low incidences of non-lymphoma-related mortality and the need for intensive medical treatment [64]. For tisagenlecleucel, an analysis of 1159 patients showed no negative association of comorbidities with survival data [65]. The use of these two CAR T-cell products in their respective approval areas is therefore also possible in the presence of comorbidities due to the lack of less toxic alternatives with proven curative potential.

From the second relapse onwards, the two **bispecific antibodies** epcoritamab and glofitamab are still possible therapeutic options. Usually, they should be used **after failure of CAR T-cell therapy.** Both antibodies induce response rates of between approx. 50 to 60% from the second relapse onwards. Especially patients who achieve a complete remission may remain disease-free in the long term [66, 67]. The two bispecific antibodies differ in terms of application, duration of therapy and structure (epcoritamab, 1xCD20 binding site, glofitamab, 2xCD20 binding site). Epcoritamab is administered subcutaneously for an unlimited period of time until progression or the occurrence of intolerable side effects, while glofitamab is administered intravenously for 12 cycles. The number of patients being cured by epcoritamab and glofitamab cannot be estimated at this time.

A further therapeutic option for patients after failure of CAR T-cell therapy may be allogeneic stem **cell transplantation** in suitable patients - depending on the remission status prior to stem cell transplantation. If a complete metabolic remission cannot be achieved after failure of CAR T-cell therapy, e.g. with a bispecific antibody, allogeneic stem cell transplantation may be considered in individual cases [68].

Furthermore, the anti-CD19 antibody-drug conjugate l**oncastuximab-tesirine is** available therapeutically from the second relapse onwards [69]. Approx. 50% of patients with multiple previously treated diffuse large B-cell lymphoma respond to treatment with loncastuximab-tesirine.

5.2 Special lymphomas and clinical situations

5.2.1 Primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma (PMBL)

5.2.1.1 General information

Primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma (PMBL) accounts for around 2 to 4 % of all lymphomas. Due to its different clinical and pathological characteristics it is classified as independent entity by the WHO classification [1]. In terms of molecular pathogenesis, PMBL shares similarities with classical Hodgkin's lymphoma (e.g. often CD30 positivity, constitutive activation of the NF- κ B and JAK/STAT signaling pathways and PD-1-mediated immune evasion). PMBLs occur mainly in young women (median age approximately 35 years). Patients with PMBL often present with symptoms of upper airway obstruction or airway compression due to the extent or locally invasive growth of the mediastinal mass.

5.2.1.2 First-line therapy

Patients with PMBL usually receive the same protocols as patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. With these protocols very high cure rates are achieved [70, 71]. However, unlike diffuse large B-cell lymphoma, the optimal chemotherapy regimen for first-line treatment of PMBL has not yet been determined definitively. Accordingly, there are currently two options in use: R-CHOP and DA-EPOCH-R. With DA-EPOCH-R an overall survival of 97% (95%Cl 81-99) after 5 years was achieved in a single-arm study [71]. This regimen contains the same substances as R-CHOEP, but differs in the mode of administration (96-hour continuous infusion of etoposide, vincristine and doxorubicin) and in adjustment of the cytostatic doses based on the granulocyte and platelet nadir of the previous cycle. PMBL patients with a residual lymphoma after first-line chemotherapy treated in real-world evaluations often received an involved field radiotherapy consolidation. A PET-CT scan should clarify whether radiotherapy is necessary after systemic therapy. The IELSG 37 study showed that if PET-CT is negative after systemic therapy, radio-therapy can be omitted [72].

5.2.1.3 Therapy of relapse

The high efficacy of first-line PMBL therapy results in a relatively low proportion of primary refractory or relapsed cases. This rarity hampers the systematic development of optimal therapy of relapsed or refractory patients. Patients with primary refractory disease or early relapse (within 12 months after completion of first-line therapy) should receive CAR T-cell therapy with lisocabtagene maraleucel [73]. Patients with late relapse (more than 12 months after completion of first-line therapy) after initially chemosensitive disease should be treated with platinum-containing salvage therapy (R-DHAP, R-GDP or R-ICE) and, if at least a partial remission is achieved, with high-dose therapy using the BEAM protocol followed by autologous stem cell transplantation. In a primarily chemorefractory situation, it is possible to treat with PD-1 block-ade with or without brentuximab vedotin [74- 76]. However, PD-1 blockade has only been approved for this indication in the USA and Switzerland. Anti-CD19 CAR T-cell therapy remains an option for the third line of therapy if CAR T-cell therapy has not yet been administered in the second line of therapy.

5.2.2 Richter Transformation (RT)

Richter transformation (also known as Richter syndrome) is the development of an aggressive lymphoma from chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL), which can occur in 2 to 10% of CLLs during the course of the disease. Over 90% of cases have a diffuse large B-cell lymphoma histology, with the remaining cases usually showing histological evidence of Hodgkin's lymphoma. If possible, the presence of a common clonal origin should be investigated to distinguish RT from a de novo secondary lymphoma. Standard therapy for RT with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma histology is 4 to 6 cycles of R-CHOP, with an overall response of only about 40% and a median survival of only about 6 to 8 months [77]. For younger patients with RT, a consolidating allogeneic stem cell transplant is usually recommended. For the few cases with RT and Hodgkin's histology, treatment based on current Hodgkin's protocols is recommended, even if data from larger treatment series are lacking.

Small case series have shown a potential therapeutic benefit of BTK inhibitors such as acalabrutinib and pirtobrutinib in RT, although only very short progression-free survival times of a few months have been described. Checkpoint inhibitors, in particular pembrolizumab, also showed responses when used as monotherapy in RT. These individual therapy options (all offlabel) can be considered in cases of reduced fitness or after failure of R-CHOP-based therapies.

Recently, a phase II study of the DCLLSG in RT (RT-1 study) documented a response rate of 58% of treated patients for the combination of the PD-1 inhibitor tislelizumab with the second-generation BTK inhibitor zanubrutinib, with a median progression-free survival of 10 months and approx. 75% of patients still alive after one year [78]. This treatment combination (currently offlabel) could therefore be of particular interest for the use of CAR T cells in RT. It is currently being investigated as a further treatment option. Initial results based on axicabtagen-ciloleucel (among others) indicate high response rates in small case series (ORR of 100% with a CR rate of 63%) with still unclear long-term results.

5.2.3 First-line therapy in the senium

In very elderly patients (> 80 years), the application of the original R-CHOP protocol is often associated with major risks. In these cases the R-miniCHOP protocol is suitable (progression-free survival after 2 years approx. 45 %) (Figure 2) [79].

5.2.4 Central nervous manifestations

During primary therapy with R-CHOP, 2 to 5 % of patients with DLBCL experience a relapse of the disease affecting the central nervous system (CNS).

As central nervous system relapses are rare, general CNS prophylaxis is not recommended. The 'CNS-IPI', which consists of the 5 factors of the IPI and an involvement of the kidneys and/or adrenal glands, is suitable for identifying patients with a high risk of central nervous system recurrence [80]. With 0 - 1 risk factors, the risk of CNS recurrence is < 1 %, with 2 - 3 risk factors 3 % and with 4 - 6 risk factors 10 %. In the high-risk groups, targeted diagnostics (magnetic resonance imaging of the central nervous system, FACS analysis of the cerebrospinal fluid) are recommended. The integration of molecular markers into the 'CNS-IPI' showed that patients with a high 'CNS-IPI' and an ABC or an unclassifiable molecular subtype have a more than 15 % risk of central nervous system relapse [81]. By retrospective analyses no advantage of CNS prophylaxis with high-dose methotrexate for the prevention of CNS relapses was shown [82]. In summary, there is currently no clear evidence for drug-based CNS prophylaxis, e.g. with high-dose methotrexate. Intrathecal prophylaxis is not indicated, as well.

Patients with parallel systemic and central nervous system involvement at diagnosis should be treated with treatment protocols that target both, the peripheral and central nervous system lymphoma, as well. Protocols involving different substances and with different intensities represent the choice here. If possible, autologous stem cell transplantation should be performed [83]. Analogous to primary CNS lymphomas, the CNS penetrating substances should be used.

5.2.5 Testicular lymphoma

Testicular lymphoma is characterized by a high rate of relapse in the central nervous system and contralateral testis. Based on retrospective data, CNS prophylaxis with high-dose methotrexate and irradiation of the contralateral testicle with 30 Gray is recommended in addition to standard therapy [84].

5.2.6 Contraindication against anthracyclines

In cases of advanced heart failure or extensive anthracycline pretreatment, doxorubicin included in the R-CHOP protocol is associated with major risks. The pegylated liposomal doxorubicin formulation is considered to be equipotent but less cardiotoxic. Sensitive heart failure markers (ejection fraction, NT-proBNP) are less likely to reach pathological values with liposomal doxorubicin than with regular doxorubicin. However, under both doxorubicin preparations, clinically manifest heart failure develops rarely and with comparable frequency [85]. An anthracycline-free alternative is to replace doxorubicin with etoposide (50 mg/m² i.v. day 1, 100 mg/m² p.o. days 2 and 3). As an indication of its curative potency, a plateau in the survival curve is observed with R-CEOP, similar to R-CHOP. R-GCVP (gemcitabine instead of doxorubicin) has been studied explicitly in a population with cardiac morbidity including heart failure and coro-

nary heart disease: it resulted in a response rate of 61.3 % and a 2-year progression-free survival of 49.8 % in older patients [86].

5.2.7 Impaired kidney or liver function

As the active metabolites of the substances contained in the R-CHOP protocol are predominantly not eliminated renally, the protocol can generally be applied in cases of impaired renal function. If liver function is impaired, the hepatically eliminated substances doxorubicin and vincristine accumulate. Both drugs should therefore not be given in cases of advanced liver dysfunction or biliary obstruction. Of note, organ dysfunction due to lymphoma is often reversed by one or two cycles of doxorubicin- and vincristine-free chemoimmunotherapy (e.g. rituximab 375 mg/m² day 1; cyclophosphamide 200 mg/m² day 1 - 5; etoposide 100 mg/m² day 1 - 3; prednisone 100 mg day 1 - 5; modification of cyclophosphamide and etoposide treatment according to clinical condition).

5.2.8 Pregnancy and fertility

If an aggressive lymphoma occurs in the first trimester, a termination of pregnancy is recommended, as chemotherapy carried out during the organogenesis phase carries a high risk of malformations. The risk is low in the second and third trimester. The R-CHOP protocol is suitable as a standard treatment regimen. Antimetabolites (e.g. methotrexate) are contraindicated due to the risk of fetal CNS damage. If the lymphoma occurs in late pregnancy and is not very aggressive, treatment can be postponed until after delivery.

A retrospective study showed no disadvantage for the mother if treatment of the lymphoma was not started until after delivery, and only a low risk for the fetus if treatment was carried out in the second or third trimester (stillbirth and malformation rate around 5%) [87]. As prematurity impairs the child's cognitive development, the indication for premature delivery should be strictly determined.

Infertility is primarily caused by alkylants and radiation in the pelvic area. In some men treated with the CHOP protocol, spermatogenesis recovers within 5 to 7 years [88]. As the outcome cannot be predicted in individual cases, sperm preservation should be carried out before chemotherapy if the patient wishes to have children. In women, permanent amenorrhea rarely occurs following treatment with CHOP [89]. However, a reduction in the ovarian reserve with premature menopause (last menstrual cycle before the age of 40) is frequent. The time window for fulfilling the desire to have children is short, especially for patients who have passed the age of 30 at the time of chemotherapy [89].

6 Follow-up

6.1 Monitoring

6.1.1 Interim staging

During first-line or relapse therapy, an interim assessment is usually done with the aim of confirming a potentially successful treatment strategy. Exact time and method of the interim assessment have not yet been defined, nor what degree of tumor reduction is required for the continuation of treatment [9]. In most cases, interim staging with computer tomography is performed after completion of one third or half of the treatment protocol. Interim PET/CT examinations are a prognostic parameter in cases of persistent positivity [20]. Currently, the value of PET/CT-triggered treatment intensification has not been proven [32].

6.1.2 Final examination

The evaluation of the treatment outcome is performed according to international standards. The outcome is evaluated 6 to 8 weeks after the end of treatment using PET/CT. The response categories comprise:

- complete remission (no FDG accumulation),
- partial remission (residual FDG accumulation with a decrease in tumor mass of at least 50 %),
- stable disease (residual FDG accumulation with a decrease in tumor mass of less than 50 %) and
- progressive disease (residual FDG accumulation with an increase in the mass of one or more lymphoma manifestations or new FDG-positive lesion(s) [9].

The Deauville classification is used to quantify the metabolic response. Deauville stages 1 and 2 (FDG activity of residual foci \leq liver activity) are generally considered complete metabolic remission, while Deauville stages 4 and 5 (residual activity > liver activity) are considered persistent vital lymphoma. The assessment of Deauville 3 is still controversial in aggressive lymphoma. The informative value of interim PET examinations after 2 or 3 cycles of therapy versus PET examinations after completion of therapy and the prognostic significance of the so-called "metabolic tumor volume" are the subject of ongoing studies. If positron emission tomography is not used, the treatment outcome is defined by computed tomography based on the size of residual masses. If the remission assessment based solely on CT is unclear, an additional PET/CT is recommended. Details of the difficult response assessment in individual cases has been described in the original literature [9].

6.2 Follow up

Follow-up examinations are important for reintegration into family, work and society, to detect relapses of the disease and to detect and minimize long-term complications, in particular infertility, secondary malignancies and cardiovascular disorders. According to the modified Cotswolds recommendations, follow-up takes place quarterly for the first two years after the end of treatment, every six months for the following three years and every year from the sixth year onwards.

The follow-up examinations focus on the patient's medical history, physical examination and laboratory analyses. Routine CT scans or PET/CT scans are not recommended [9]. The value of less stressful examination procedures, such as ultrasound examination of the abdomen or conventional X-ray examination of the thorax, has not been proven. Imaging procedures are particularly justified if the clinical findings suggest a relapse of the disease or a late complication.

Secondary malignancies (in particular in patients under the age of 45 years) may occur following successful treatment with CHOP-type treatment protocols [90]. In addition to myelodysplasia and acute myeloid leukemia, there is an increased incidence of bronchial carcinomas (increased risk due to concomitant nicotine consumption), colorectal carcinomas, prostate carcinomas, cyclophosphamide-induced urinary bladder carcinomas and Hodgkin's lymphomas. Specific measures for the prevention and detection of secondary malignancies have not been defined, so far.

After treatment with anthracyclines, the risk of an emerging **heart failure is** increased compared to the normal population, especially if chemotherapy was administered in younger age (before the age of 55). Possible individual co-factors which can be reduced are arterial hypertension and nicotine consumption. If chemotherapy and radiotherapy of the mediastinum are combined, the risk of coronary heart disease or cerebrovascular events increases. For prevention, the control of cardiovascular risk factors (hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, diabetes mellitus, obesity, nicotine abuse) is recommended. When radiating the mediastinum in young patients, early breast cancer screening should be carried out.

6.3 COVID-19

Information on COVID-19 can be found in the Onkopedia COVID-19 guideline. The SARS-CoV-2 pandemic has not resulted in any changes with regard to treatment or check-ups and follow-up examinations.

9 References

- Alagio R, Amador C, Anagnostopoulos I et al. The 5th Edition of the World Health Organization Classification of Haematolymphoid Tumours: Lymphoid Neoplasms. Leukemia 2022; 36:1720-48. DOI:10.1038/s41375/-022-01620-2
- 2. Sehn LH, Salles G. Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. N Engl J Med 2021; 384:842-858. DOI:10.1056/NEJMra2027612
- Morton LM, Wang SS, Devesa SS, et al. Lymphoma incidence patterns by WHO subtype in the United States, 1992-2001. Blood 2006; 107:265-276. DOI:10.1182/ blood-2005-06-2508
- Alizadeh AA, Eisen MB, Davis RE et al. Distinct types of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma identified by gene expression profiling. Nature 2000; 403:503-511. DOI:10.1038/35000501
- De Jong D, Rosenwald A, Chhanabhai M et al. Immunohistochemical prognostic markers in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: validation of tissue microarray as a prerequisite for broad clinical applications - a study from the Lunenburg Lymphoma Biomarker Consortium. J Clin Oncol 2007; 25:805-812. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2006.09.4490
- Rosenwald A, Bens S, Advani R et al. Prognostic Significance of *MYC* Rearrangement and Translocation Partner in Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma: A Study by the Lunenburg Lymphoma Biomarker Consortium. J Clin Oncol 2019; 37:3359-3368. DOI:10.1200/ JCO.19.00743
- Johnson NA, Slack GW, Savage KJ et al. Concurrent expression of MYC and BCL2 in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma treated with rituximab plus cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, and prednisone. J Clin Oncol. 2012; 30:3452-3459. DOI:10.1200/ JCO.2011.41.0985
- 8. Lister TA, Crowther D, Sutcliffe SB et al. Report of a committee convened to discuss the evaluation and staging of patients with Hodgkin's disease: Cotswolds Meeting. J Clin Oncol 1989; 7:1630-1636. PMID:2809679
- 9. Cheson BD, Fisher RI, Barrington SF et al. Recommendations for initial evaluation, staging, and response assessment of Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphoma: the Lugano classification. J Clin Oncol 2014; 32:3059-3067. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2013.54.8800
- International Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma Prognostic Factors Project. A predictive model for aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med 1993; 329:987-994. DOI:10.1056/ NEJM199309303291402
- 11. Zhou Z, Sehn LH, Rademaker AW et al. An enhanced International Prognostic Index (NCCN-IPI) for patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma treated in the rituximab era. Blood 2014; 123:837-842. DOI:10.1182/blood-2013-09-524108

- 12. Sehn LH, Scott DW, Chhanabhai M et al. Impact of concordant and discordant bone marrow involvement on outcome in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma treated with R-CHOP. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29:1452-1457. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2010.33.3419
- 13. Pfreundschuh M, Ho AD, Cavallin-Stahl E et al. Prognostic significance of maximum tumor (bulk) diameter in young patients with good-prognosis diffuse large-B-cell lymphoma treated with CHOP-like chemotherapy with or without rituximab: an exploratory analysis of the MabThera International Trial Group (MInT) study. Lancet Oncol 2008; 9:435-444. DOI:10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70002-0
- 14. Held G, Murawski N, Ziepert M et al. Role of radiotherapy to bulky disease in elderly patients with aggressive B-cell lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 2014; 32:1112-1118. DOI:10.1200/ JCO.2013.51.4505
- Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis 1987; 40:373-383. DOI:10.1016/0021-9681(87)90171-8
- 16. Artz AS, Pollyea DA, Kocherginsky M et al. Performance status and comorbidity predict transplant-related mortality after allogeneic hematopoietic cell transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 2006; 12:954-964. DOI:10.1016/j.bbmt.2006.05.015
- 17. Coiffier B, Thieblemont C, Van Den Neste E et al. Long-term outcome of patients in the LNH-98.5 trial, the first randomized study comparing rituximab-CHOP to standard CHOP chemotherapy in DLBCL patients: a study by the Groupe d'Etudes des Lymphomes de l'Adulte. Blood 2010; 116:2040-2045. DOI:10.1182/blood-2010-03-276246
- Pfreundschuh M, Trümper L, Österborg A et al. CHOP-like chemotherapy plus rituximab versus CHOP-like chemotherapy alone in young patients with good-prognosis diffuse large-B-cell lymphoma: a randomized controlled trial by the MabThera International Trial (MInT) Group. Lancet Oncol 2006; 7:379-391. DOI:10.1016/S1470-2045(06)70664-7
- 19. Pfreundschuh M, Schubert J, Ziepert M et al. Six versus eight cycles of bi-weekly CHOP-14 with or without rituximab in elderly patients with aggressive CD20+ B-cell lymphomas: a randomized controlled trial (RICOVER-60). Lancet Oncol 2008; 9:105-116. DOI:10.1016/ S1470-2045(08)70002-0
- 20. Dührsen U, Müller S, Hertenstein B et al. Positron Emission Tomography-Guided Therapy of Aggressive Non-Hodgkin Lymphomas (PETAL): A Multicenter, Randomized Phase III Trial. J Clin Oncol 2018; 36:2024-2034. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2017.76.8093
- Poeschel V, Held G, Ziepert M et al. Four versus six cycles of CHOP chemotherapy in combination with six applications of rituximab in patients with aggressive B-cell lymphoma with favorable prognosis (FLYER): a randomized, phase 3, non-inferiority trial. Lancet 2019; 394:2271-2281. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(19)33008-9
- Sehn LH, Congiu AG, Culligan DJ et al. No Added Benefit of Eight Versus Six Cycles of CHOP When Combined with Rituximab in Previously Untreated Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma Patients: Results from the International Phase III GOYA Study. Blood 2018; 132 (Supplement 1): 783. DOI:10.1182/blood-2018-99-116845
- Tilly H, Morschhauser F, Sehn LH et al. Polatuzumab Vedotin in Previously Untreated Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma. N Engl J Med 2022; 386:351-363. DOI:10.1056/NEJ-Moa2115304
- 24. Campbell BA, Connors JM, Gascoyne RD et al. Limited-stage diffuse large B-cell lymphoma treated with abbreviated systemic therapy and consolidation radiotherapy: involved-field versus involved-node radiotherapy. Cancer 2012; 118:4156-4165. DOI:10.1002/cncr.26687
- 25. Stephens DM, Li H, LeBlanc ML et al. Continued risk of relapse independent of treatment modality in limited stage diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: final and long-term analysis of

Southwest Oncology Group Stud y S8736. J Clin Oncol 2016; 34:2997-3004. DOI:10.1200/ JCO.2015.65.4582

- 26. Held G, Zeynalova S, Murawski N et al. Impact of rituximab and radiotherapy on outcome of patients with aggressive B-cell lymphoma and skeletal involvement. J Clin Oncol 2013; 31:4115-4122. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2012.48.0467
- 27. Freeman CL, Savage KJ, Villa DR et al. Long-term results of PET-guided radiation in patients with advanced-stage diffuse large B-cell lymphoma treated with R-CHOP. Blood 2021; 137:929-938. DOI:10.1182/blood.2020005846
- Persky DO, Unger JM, Spier CM et al. Phase II study of rituximab plus three cycles of CHOP and involved-field radiotherapy for patients with limited-stage aggressive B-cell lymphoma: Southwest Oncology Group study 0014. J Clin Oncol 2008; 26:2258-2263. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2007.13.6929
- Persky DO, Li H, Stephens DM et al. Positron Emission Tomography-Directed Therapy for Patients With Limited-Stage Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma: Results of Intergroup National Clinical Trials Network Study S1001 [published correction appears in J Clin Oncol 2020; 38:3459]. J Clin Oncol 2020; 38:3003-3011. DOI:10.1200/JCO.20.00999
- 30. Berger MD, Trelle S, Büchi AE et al. Impact on survival through consolidation radiotherapy for diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: a comprehensive meta-analysis. Haematologica 2021; 106:1923-1931. DOI:10.3324/haematol.2020.249680
- Davies AJ, Barrans S, Stanton L, et al. Differential Efficacy From the Addition of Bortezomib to R-CHOP in Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma According to the Molecular Subgroup in the REMoDL-B Study With a 5-Year Follow-Up. J Clin Oncol 2023; 41:2718-2723. DOI:10.1200/JCO.23.00033
- 32. Le Gouill S, Ghesquières H, Oberic L, et al. Obinutuzumab vs rituximab for advanced DLBCL: a PET-guided and randomized phase 3 study by LYSA. *Blood* 2021; 137:2307-2320. DOI:10.1182/blood.2020008750
- Récher C, Coiffier B, Haioun C et al. Intensified chemotherapy with ACVBP plus rituximab versus standard CHOP plus rituximab for the treatment of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (LNH03-2B): an open-label randomized phase 3 trial. Lancet 2011; 378:1858-1867. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61040-4
- Casasnovas RO, Ysebaert L, Thieblemont C et al. FDG-PET-driven consolidation strategy in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: final results of a randomized phase 2 study. Blood 2017; 130:1315-1326. DOI:10.1182/blood-2017-02-766691
- 35. Bernard S, Oberic L, Lazarovici J et al. Description and analysis of 36 central nervous system relapses in patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma within LYSA studies. European Hematology Association, EHA Conference 2018, abstract PB1759.
- Pfreundschuh M, Truemper L, Kloess M et al. 2-weekly or 3-weekly CHOP chemotherapy with or without etoposide for the treatment of young patients with good prognosis (normal LDH) aggressive lymphomas: results of the NHL-B1 trial of the DSHNHL. Blood 2004; 104:626-633. DOI:10.1182/blood-2003-06-2094
- 37. Frontzek F, Ziepert M, Nickelsen M et al. Rituximab plus high-dose chemotherapy (Mega-CHOEP) or conventional chemotherapy (CHOEP-14) in young, high-risk patients with aggressive B-cell lymphoma: 10-year follow-up of a randomized, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Haematol 2021;8:e267-e277. DOI:10.1016/S2352-3026(21)00022-3
- 38. Lenz G, Tilly H, Ziepert M, et al. Pola-R-CHP vs. R-CHOEP in young patients with high-risk diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Hematological Oncology, Volume 41, Issue S2: 420-421
- Stiff PJ, Unger JM, Cook JR et al. Autologous transplantation as consolidation for aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med 369:1681-1690, 2013. DOI:10.1056/NEJ-Moa1301077

- 40. Müller C, Murawski N, Wiesen MH et al. The role of sex and weight on rituximab clearance and serum elimination half-life in elderly patients with DLBCL. Blood 2012; 119:3276-3284. DOI:10.1182/blood-2011-09-380949
- Pfreundschuh M, Poeschel V, Zeynalova S et al. Optimization of rituximab for the treatment of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (II): extended rituximab exposure time in the SMARTE-R-CHOP-14 trial of the German high-grade non-Hodgkin lymphoma study group. J Clin Oncol 2014; 32:4127-4133. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2013.54.6861
- 42. Pfreundschuh M, Poeschel V, Zeynalova S et al. Optimization of rituximab for the treatment of DLBCL: increasing the dose for elderly male patients. Br J Haematol 2017, 179:410-420. DOI:10.1111/bjh.14860
- 43. Lugtenburg PJ, de Nully Brown P, van der Holt B et al. Rituximab-CHOP With Early Rituximab Intensification for Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma: A Randomized Phase III Trial of the HOVON and the Nordic Lymphoma Group (HOVON-84). J Clin Oncol 2020; 38:3377-3387. DOI:10.1200/JCO.19.03418
- 44. Vitolo U, Trneny M, Belada D et al. Obinutuzumab or rituximab plus cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, and prednisone in previously untreated diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 2017; 35:3529-3537. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2017.73.3402
- 45. Van Imhoff GW, McMillan A, Matasar MJ et al. Ofatumumab versus rituximab salvage chemoimmunotherapy in relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: the ORCHARRD study. J Clin Oncol 2017; 35:544-551. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2016.69.0198
- 46. Bittenbring JT, Neumann F, Altmann B et al. Vitamin D deficiency impairs rituximab-mediated cellular cytotoxicity and outcome of patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma treated with but not without rituximab. J Clin Oncol 2014; 32:3242-3248. DOI:10.1200/ JCO.2013.53.4537
- 47. Philip T, Guglielmi C, Hagenbeek A et al. Autologous bone marrow transplantation as compared with salvage chemotherapy in relapses of chemotherapy-sensitive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med 1995; 333:1540-1545. PMID:7477169
- 48. Gisselbrecht C, Glass B, Mounier N et al. Salvage regimens with autologous transplantation for relapsed large B-cell lymphoma in the rituximab era. J Clin Oncol 2010; 28:4184-4190. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2010.28.1618
- Crump M, Kuruvilla J, Couban S et al. Randomized comparison of gemcitabine, dexamethasone, and cisplatin versus dexamethasone, cytarabine, and cisplatin chemotherapy before autologous stem-cell transplantation for relapsed and refractory aggressive lymphomas: NCIC-CTG LY.12. J Clin Oncol 2014; 32:3490-3496. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2013.53.9593
- 50. Westin JR, Oluwole OO, Kersten MJ, et al. Survival with Axicabtagene Ciloleucel in Large B-Cell Lymphoma. N Engl J Med. 2023; 389:148-157. DOI:10.1056/NEJMoa2301665
- Kamdar M, Solomon SR, Arnason J et al. Lisocabtagene maraleucel versus standard of care with salvage chemotherapy followed by autologous stem cell transplantation as second-line treatment in patients with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma (TRANS-FORM): results from an interim analysis of an open-label, randomized, phase 3 trial. Lancet 2022; 399:2294-2308. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00662-6
- 52. Bishop MR, Dickinson M, Purtill D et al. Second-Line Tisagenlecleucel or Standard Care in Aggressive B-Cell Lymphoma. N Engl J Med 2022; 386:629-639. DOI:10.1056/NEJ-Moa2116596
- 53. Houot R, Bachy E, Cartron G, et al. Axicabtagene ciloleucel as second-line therapy in large B cell lymphoma ineligible for autologous stem cell transplantation: a phase 2 trial. Nat Med 2023; 29:2593-2601. DOI:10.1038/s41591-023-02572-5

- 54. Sehgal A, Hoda D, Riedell PA, et al. Lisocabtagene maraleucel as second-line therapy in adults with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma who were not intended for haematopoietic stem cell transplantation (PILOT): an open-label, phase 2 study. *Lancet Oncol* 2022; 23:1066-1077. DOI:10.1016/S1470-2045(22)00339-4
- 55. El Gnaoui T, Dupuis J, Belhadj K et al. Rituximab, gemcitabine and oxaliplatin: an effective salvage regimen for patients with relapsed or refractory B-cell lymphoma not candidates for high-dose therapy. Ann Oncol 2007; 18:1363-1368. DOI:10.1093/annonc/mdm133
- 56. Sehn LH, Herrera AF, Flowers CR, et al. Polatuzumab vedotin in Relapsed or Refractory Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 2020; 38:155-165. DOI:10.1200/ JCO.19.00172
- 57. Salles G, Duell J, González Barca E, et al. Tafasitamab plus lenalidomide in relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (L-MIND): a multicenter, prospective, single-arm, phase 2 study. Lancet Oncol 202021:978-988. DOI:10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30225-4
- 58. Qualls DA, Lambert N, Caimi PF, et al. Tafasitamab and lenalidomide in large B-cell lymphoma: real-world outcomes in a multicenter retrospective study. Blood 2023;142(26):2327-2331. DOI:10.1182/blood.2023021274
- 59. Iacoboni G, Navarro V, Martín-López AÁ, et al. Recent Bendamustine Treatment Before Apheresis Has a Negative Impact on Outcomes in Patients With Large B-Cell Lymphoma Receiving Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Therapy. J Clin Oncol 2024; 42:205-217. DOI:10.1200/JCO.23.01097
- Neelapu SS, Locke FL, Bartlett NL et al. Axicabtagene ciloleucel CAR T-cell therapy in refractory large B-cell lymphoma. N Engl J Med 2017; 377:2531-2544. DOI:10.1056/NEJ-Moa1707447
- 61. Schuster SJ, Svoboda J, Chong EA et al. Chimeric antigen receptor T cells in refractory Bcell lymphomas. N Engl J Med 2017; 377:2545-2554. DOI:10.1056/NEJMoa1708566
- 62. Abramson JS, Palomba ML, Gordon LI, et al. Lisocabtagene maraleucel for patients with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphomas (TRANSCEND NHL 001): a multicenter seamless design study. Lancet 2020; 396:839-852. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31366-0
- 63. Dreger P, Corradini P, Gribben JG, et al. CD19-directed CAR T cells as first salvage therapy for large B-cell lymphoma: towards a rational approach. Lancet Haematol. 2023;10:e1006-e1015. DOI:10.1016/S2352-3026(23)00307-1
- 64. Westin JR, Kersten MJ, Salles G, et al. Efficacy and safety of CD19-directed CAR-T cell therapies in patients with relapsed/refractory aggressive B-cell lymphomas: Observations from the JULIET, ZUMA-1, and TRANSCEND trials. Am J Hematol 2021; 96:1295-1312. DOI:10.1002/ajh.26301
- 65. Landsburg DJ, Frigault M, Heim M et al. Real-World Outcomes for Patients with Relapsed or Refractory Aggressive B-Cell Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma Treated with Commercial Tisagenlecleucel: Subgroup Analyses from the Center for International Blood and Marrow Transplant Research (CIBMTR) Registry, Blood, 2022, 140 Suppl. 1, S1584-1587.
- 66. Thieblemont C, Phillips T, Ghesquieres H, et al. Epcoritamab, a Novel, Subcutaneous CD3xCD20 Bispecific T-Cell-Engaging Antibody, in Relapsed or Refractory Large B-Cell Lymphoma: Dose Expansion in a Phase I/II Trial. J Clin Oncol. 2023; 41:2238-2247. DOI:10.1200/JCO.22.01725
- 67. Dickinson MJ, Carlo-Stella C, Morschhauser F, et al. Glofitamab for Relapsed or Refractory Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma. N Engl J Med 2022; 387:2220-2231. DOI:10.1056/NEJ-Moa2206913
- 68. Van Kampen RJ, Canals C, Schouten HC et al. Allogeneic stem-cell transplantation as salvage therapy for patients with diffuse large B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma relapsing after an autologous stem-cell transplantation: an analysis of the European Group for

Blood and Marrow Transplantation Registry. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29:1342-1348. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2010.30.2596

- 69. Caimi PF, Ai W, Alderuccio JP, et al. Loncastuximab tesirine in relapsed or refractory diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (LOTIS-2): a multicentre, open-label, single-arm, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 2021; 22:790-800. DOI:10.1016/S1470-2045(21)00139-X
- 70. Rieger M, Österborg A, Pettengell R et al. Primary mediastinal B-cell lymphoma treated with CHOP-like chemotherapy with or without rituximab: results of the Mabthera International Trial Group study. Ann Oncol 2011; 22:664-670. DOI:10.1093/annonc/mdq418
- Dunleavy K, Pittaluga S, Maeda LS et al. Dose-adjusted EPOCH-rituximab therapy in primary mediastinal B-cell lymphoma. N Engl J Med 2013; 368:1408-1416. DOI:10.1056/NEJ-Moa1214561
- Martelli, Maurizio; Ceriani, Luca; Zucca, Emanuele et al. Omission of radiotherapy in primary mediastinal B-cell lymphoma patients following complete metabolic response to standard immunochemotherapy: results of the IELSG37 randomized trial (NCT01599559); HemaSphere 7(S3):p e2454568, August 2023.
- Kamdar M, Solomon SR, Arnason J, et al. Lisocabtagene maraleucel versus standard of care with salvage chemotherapy followed by autologous stem cell transplantation as second-line treatment in patients with relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma (TRANS-FORM): results from an interim analysis of an open-label, randomized, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2022; 399:2294-2308. DOI:10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00662-6
- 74. Zinzani PL, Ribrag V, Moskowitz CH et al. Safety and tolerability of pembrolizumab in patients with relapsed/refractory primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma. Blood 2017; 130:267-270. DOI:10.1182/blood-2016-12-758383
- 75. Armand P, Rodig S, Melnichenko V et al. Pembrolizumab in Relapsed or Refractory Primary Mediastinal Large B-Cell Lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 2019; 37:3291-3299. DOI:10.1200/ JCO.19.01389
- Zinzani PL, Santoro A, Gritti G et al. Nivolumab Combined With Brentuximab Vedotin for Relapsed/Refractory Primary Mediastinal Large B-Cell Lymphoma: Efficacy and Safety From the Phase II CheckMate 436 Study. J Clin Oncol 2019; 37:3081-3089. DOI:10.1200/ JCO.19.01492
- 77. Condoluci A, Rossi D. Biology and Treatment of Richter Transformation. Front Oncol. 2022; 12:829983. DOI:10.3389/fonc.2022.829983
- Al-Sawaf O, Ligtvoet R, Robrecht S, et al. Tislelizumab plus zanubrutinib for Richter transformation: the phase 2 RT1 trial. Nat Med Published online December 9, 2023. DOI:10.1038/s41591-023-02722-9
- Peyrade F, Jardin F, Thieblemont C et al. Attenuated immunochemotherapy regimen (RminiCHOP) in elderly patients older than 80 years with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: a multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol 2011; 12:460-468. DOI:10.1016/ S1470-2045(11)70069-9
- 80. Schmitz N, Zeynalova S, Nickelsen M et al. CNS International Prognostic Index: a risk model for CNS relapse in patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma treated with R-CHOP. J Clin Oncol 2016; 34:3150-3156. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2015.65.6520
- Klanova M, Sehn LH, Bence-Bruckler I et al. Integration of cell of origin into the clinical CNS International Prognostic Index improves CNS relapse prediction in DLBCL. Blood 2019; 133:919. DOI:10.1182/blood-2018-07-862862
- Jeong H, Cho H, Kim H et al. Efficacy and safety of prophylactic high-dose MTX in high-risk DLBCL: a treatment intent-based analysis. Blood Adv 2021; 5:2142-2152. DOI:10.1182/ bloodadvances.2020003947

- Ferreri AJ, Donadoni G, Cabras MG et al. High Doses of Antimetabolites Followed by High-Dose Sequential Chemoimmunotherapy and Autologous Stem-Cell Transplantation in Patients With Systemic B-Cell Lymphoma and Secondary CNS Involvement: Final Results of a Multicenter Phase II Trial. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33:3903-3910. DOI:10.1200/ JCO.2015.61.1236
- 84. Zucca E, Conconi A, Mughal TI et al. Patterns of outcome and prognostic factors in primary large-cell lymphoma of the testis in a survey by the International Extranodal Lymphoma Study Group. J Clin Oncol 2003; 21:20-27. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2003.11.141
- 85. Fridrik MA, Jaeger U, Petzer A et al. Cardiotoxicity with rituximab, cyclophosphamide, non-pegylated liposomal doxorubicin, vincristine and prednisolone compared to rituximab, cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, and prednisolone in frontline treatment of patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: A randomized phase-III study from the Austrian Cancer Drug Therapy Working Group [Arbeitsgemeinschaft Medikamentöse Tumortherapie AGMT](NHL-14). Eur J Cancer 2016; 58:112-121. DOI:10.1016/j.ejca.2016.02.004
- Fields PA, Townsend W, Webb A, et al. De novo treatment of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma with rituximab, cyclophosphamide, vincristine, gemcitabine, and prednisolone in patients with cardiac comorbidity: a United Kingdom National Cancer Research Institute trial. 2014; 32:282-287. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2013.49.7586
- 87. Evens AM, Advani R, Press OW et al. Lymphoma occurring during pregnancy: antenatal therapy, complications, and maternal survival in a multicenter analysis. J Clin Oncol 2013; 31:4132-4139. DOI:10.1200/JCO.2013.49.8220
- 88. Pryzant RM, Meistrich ML, Wilson G et al. Long-term reduction in sperm count after chemotherapy with and without radiation therapy for non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. J Clin Oncol 1993; 11:239-247. PMID:8426200
- 89. Elis A, Tevet A, Yerushalmi R et al. Fertility status among women treated for aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Leuk Lymphoma 2006; 47:623-627. DOI:10.1080/10428190500353877
- 90. Moser EC, Noordijk EM, van Leeuwen FE et al. Risk of second cancer after treatment of aggressive non-Hodgkin's lymphoma; an EORTC cohort study. Haematologica 2006; 91:1481-1488. PMID:17043014

10 Active studies

Malignant lymphoma competence network: http://www.lymphome.de

14 Links

German Leukemia and Lymphoma Aid e. V.

www.leukaemie-hilfe.de/

15 Authors' Affiliations

Prof. Dr. med. Björn Chapuy

Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin Medizinische Klinik mit Schwerpunkt Hämatologie und Onkologie Hindenburgdamm 30 12200 Berlin bjoern.chapuy@charite.de

Prof. Dr. med. Bertram Glaß

HELIOS Klinikum Berlin-Buch Klinik für Hämatologie, Onkologie und Tumorimmunologie Schwanebecker Chaussee 50 13125 Berlin bertram.glass@helios-gesundheit.de

Prim. Univ.-Prof. Dr. Felix Keil

3. Medizinischen Abteilung
Hämatologisch-Onkologisches Zentrum
Heinrich-Collin-Str. 30
A-1140 Wien
felix.keil@oegk.at

Prof. Dr. Wolfram Klapper

Universitätsklinikum Schleswig-Holstein - Campus Kiel Institut für Pathologie, Sektion für Hämatopathologie Arnold-Heller-Str. 3, Haus 14 24105 Kiel wklapper@path.uni-kiel.de

Prof. Dr. Georg Lenz

Universitätsklinikum Münster Translationale Onkologie Albert-Schweitzer-Campus 1, Gebäude D3 48149 Münster georg.lenz@ukmuenster.de

Dr. med. Maike Nickelsen

Onkologie Lerchenfeld Lerchenfeld 14 22081 Hamburg dr.nickelsen@onkologie-lerchenfeld.de

Prof. Dr. med. Urban Novak

INSELSPITAL, Universitätsspital Bern Klinik und Poliklinik für Medizinische Onkologie Freiburgstr. CH-3010 Bern urban.novak@insel.ch

Prof. Dr. med. Heinz Schmidberger

Universitätsmedizin Mainz Klinik für Radioonkologie und Strahlentherapie Langenbeckstr. 1 55131 Mainz heinz.schmidberger@unimedizin-mainz.de

Prof. Dr. med. Clemens A. Schmitt

Kepler Universitätsklinikum Klinik für Interne 3 - Schwerpunkt Hämatologie und Onkologie Krankenhausstr. 9 A-4021 Linz Clemens.Schmitt@kepleruniklinikum.at

Prof. Dr. med. Clemens-Martin Wendtner

Klinik für Hämatologie, Onkologie, Immunologie, Palliativmedizin, Infektiologie und Tropenmedizin München Klinik Schwabing Kölner Platz 1 80804 München clemens.wendtner@klinikum-muenchen.de

16 Disclosure of Potential Conflicts of Interest

according to the rules of DGHO, OeGHO, SGH+SSH, SGMO

Author	Employer ¹	Consult- ing / Ex- pert opin- ion ²	Shares / Funds ³	Patent / Copy- right / Li- cense ⁴	Fees ⁵	Funding of scien- tific re- search ⁶	Other fi- nancial re- lations ⁷	Person- al rela- tionship with au- thorized repre- senta- tives ⁸
Chapuy, Björn	ab 1.10.2021 Charité, Uni- ver- sitätsmedizin Berlin, Cam- pus Ben- jamin Franklin vorher: Uni- ver- sitätsmedizin Göttingen	Yes AbbVie, ADC, BMS, Incyte, Janssen, Re- generon, Roche, Sobi	No	Νο	Yes AbbVie, Ars tempi, Astra Zeneca, BMS, Incyte, Janssen, Gilead, KML, Roche, San- doz, Sobi, Ono	Yes Gilead On- cology Award (mit S. Dietrich) 2021 BC ist Leiter der GLA IIT R- Pola-Glo, die vom IKF gesponsort wird und fi- nanzielle Zuwendun- gen von der ROCHE bekommt.	Yes Roche (An/ Abreise zum EHA 2022)	Νο
Glaß, Bertram	Helios Klinik Berlin-Buch	Yes Roche, Kite/ Gilead, Cel- gene/BMS, Novartis, Miltenyi, Lonca, Abb- vie, JAZZ, Jannssen, Incyte	No	No	Yes Roche, BMS, Kite, Abbvie, Jannssen, In- cyte	Yes Roche, Riemser	No	No
Keil, Felix	Vorstand der 3. Medizinis- chen Abteilung Hämatolo- gisch-onkolo- gisches Zen- trum 1140 Wien, Hein- rich-Collin- Straße 30	Yes Roche, In- cyte, No- vartis, Gilead: Ad- visory Boards.	No	Νο	Yes AbbVie, Am- gen, As- traZeneca, Beigene, Cel- gene/BMS, Incyte, Janssen, No- vartis, Roche	Yes AbbVie, As- traZeneca, Celgene/ BMS, Take- da	Νο	No
Klapper, Wolfram	Universität- sklinikum Schleswig- Holstein - Campus Kiel Institut für Pathologie, Sektion für Hä- matopatholo- gie	Yes Roche	No	Νο	No	Yes AMgen, Takeda, Roche, Janssen, In- Cyte, Re- generon	No	No
Lenz, Georg	Universität- sklinikum Münster	Yes	Νο	No	Yes Roche, Gilead, Janssen, Cel- gene/BMS, Novartis, As- traZeneca, Takeda, Abb- vie, Mor- phosys, In- cyte, Sobi, Hexal/San- doz, Beigene	Yes Roche, Gilead, Janssen, Bayer, As- traZeneca, Morphosys, AGIOS, AGIOS, AQUINOX, Verastem, Acerta	Yes Roche, Gilead, Janssen, Celgene/ BMS, No- vartis, As- traZeneca, Takeda, Ab- bvie, Mor- phosys, In- cyte, Beigene, Sobi	No

Author	Employer ¹	Consult- ing / Ex- pert opin- ion ²	Shares / Funds ³	Patent / Copy- right / Li- cense ⁴	Fees ⁵	Funding of scien- tific re- search ⁶	Other fi- nancial re- lations ⁷	Person- al rela- tionship with au- thorized repre- senta- tives ⁸
		Roche, Gilead, Janssen, Celgene/ BMS, Bayer, Novartis, As- traZeneca, Takeda, Ab- bvie, Mor- phosys, In- cyte, Gen- mab, Karyopharm, Constella- tion, ADC Therapeu- tics, Mil- tenyi, Pen- tixaPharm, Sobi, Imma- gene, Genase, Lil- ly, Hexal/ Sandoz, MSD, Beigene						
Nickelsen, Maike	Selbständige Tätigkeit seit 01.04.2023	Yes Advisory Boards: Ab- bVie, Am- gen, Astra Zeneca, BMS, In- cyte, Janssen, Lil- ly, Roche, SoBi,	No	No	Yes Vor- tragstätigkeit: AbbVie, Am- gen, BMS, In- cyte, Janssen, Roche, SoBi	No	Yes Reise- und Kon- gresskosten: BMS, Lilly, Roche	Νο
Urban, No- vak	Inselspital / Univer- sitätsspital Bern	Yes Astra Zeneca, Ideogen, Roche, Beigene, Gilead, Ky- owa Kirin, Incyte, Takeda, Pierre Fab- re, Celgene/ BMS	No	Νο	Yes Gilead, Take- da, Celgene/ BMS, H & O Communica- tion	Νο	No	Νο
Schmid- berger, Heinz	Univer- sitätsmedizin Mainz	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
Schmitt, Clemens A.	Johannes Ke- pler Univer- sität Linz Ke- pler Univer- sität- sklinikum Linz Charité - Univer- sitätsmedizin Berlin	Yes	No	Νο	Yes	Yes Janssen: Forschung- sunter- stützung	No	Νο

Author	Employer ¹	Consult- ing / Ex- pert opin- ion ²	Shares / Funds ³	Patent / Copy- right / Li- cense ⁴	Fees ⁵	Funding of scien- tific re- search ⁶	Other fi- nancial re- lations ⁷	Person- al rela- tionship with au- thorized repre- senta- tives ⁸
		Roche: Ad- visory Board, Sprecher- honorare Janssen: Advisory Board, Sprecher- honorare und Forschung- sunter- stützung Takeda: Ad- visory Board BMS/ Celgene: Advisory Board Abb- vie: Advisory Board Abb- vie: Adviso- ry Board Roche: Ad- visory Board Abb- vie: Adviso- ry Board Roche: Ad- visory Board, Sprecher- honorare Janssen: Advisory Board, Sprecher- honorare Janssen: Advisory Board, Sprecher- honorare Janssen: Advisory Board, Sprecher- honorare Janssen: Advisory Board, Sprecher- honorare Janssen: Advisory Board, Sprecher- honorare Janssen: Advisory Board BMS/ Celgene: Advisory Board BMS/ Celgene: Advisory Board Astra Zeneca: Ad- visory Board Abb- vie: Adviso- ry Board			Roche: Advi- sory Board, Sprecher- honorare Janssen: Ad- visory Board, Sprecher- honorare Takeda: Advi- sory Board BMS/Cel- gene: Advi- sory Board Astra Zeneca: Ad- visory Board Abbvie: Advi- sory Board			
Wendtner, Clemens- Martin	München Klinik Schwabing Ludwig-Maxi- milians-Uni- versität (LMU) München	Yes Hoffmann- La Roche, Janssen- Cilag, Abb- Vie, GSK, BeiGene, As- traZeneca, Lilly	No	Νο	Yes Hoffmann-La Roche, Janssen- Cilag, Abb- Vie, GSK, BeiGene, As- traZeneca, Lilly	Yes Hoffmann- La Roche, Janssen- Cilag, Abb- Vie, GSK, BeiGene, As- traZeneca, Lilly	Νο	Νο

Legend:

¹ - Current employer, relevant previous employers in the last 3 years (institution/location).

² - Activity as a consultant or expert or paid participation in a scientific advisory board of a company in the health care industry (e.g., pharmaceutical industry, medical device industry), a commercially oriented contract research organization, or an insurance company.

³ - Ownership of business shares, stocks, funds with participation of companies of the health care industry.

⁴ - Relates to drugs and medical devices.

⁵ - Honoraria for lecturing and training activities or paid authors or co-authorships on behalf of a company in the health care industry, a commercially oriented contracting institute or an insurance company.

⁶ - Financial support (third-party funds) for research projects or direct financing of employees of the institution by a company in the health care industry, a commercially oriented contract institute or an insurance company.

⁷ - Other financial relationships, e.g., gifts, travel reimbursements, or other payments in excess of 100 euros outside of research projects, if paid by an entity that has an investment in, license to, or other commercial interest in the subject matter of the investigation.

⁸ - Personal relationship with an authorized representative(s) of a healthcare company.